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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT 
BOONE COUNTY, KENTUCKY 

CASE NO: 20-CI-678 
Florence Speedway, Inc. 
12234 U.S. 42 
Walton, KY 41094 
 
Theodore J. Roberts 
2271 Teal Briar Lane, Apt. 208 
Burlington, KY 41005 
 
Ridgeway Properties, LLC d/b/a 
Beans Café & Bakery 
21 Taft Highway 
Dry Ridge, KY 41035 
 
Little Links to Learning, LLC 
1945 Highland Pike 
Ft. Wright, KY 41017 
 
 Plaintiffs 
 
On behalf of themselves, and others similarly situated 
(class certification sought under C.R. 23) 
 
v. 
 
Northern Kentucky Independent Health District 
8001 Veterans Memorial Dr 
Florence, KY 41042 
 
Dr. Lynne Saddler, M.D. 
District Director of Health 
Northern Kentucky Independent Health District 
8001 Veterans Memorial Dr 
Florence, KY 41042 
In her official capacity only 
 
Hon. Andrew Beshear 
Governor, Commonwealth of Kentucky 
700 Capitol Ave, Suite 100 
Frankfort, KY 40601 
In his official capacity only 
 
Kentucky Cabinet for Health and Family Services 
275 E. Main Street 
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Frankfort, KY 40621 
 
Eric Friedlander 
Secretary, KY Cabinet for Health and Family Services 
275 E. Main Street 
Frankfort, KY 40621 
In his official capacity only 
 
Steven Stack, M.D. 
Commissioner for Public Health 
275 E. Main Street 
Frankfort, KY 40621 
In his official capacity only 
 
 Defendants 
 
Also Serve: 
 
Hon. Daniel Cameron 
Kentucky Attorney General 
700 Capitol Ave., STE 118 
Frankfort, KY 40601-34481 
 

PLAINTIFFS AMENDED VERIFIED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR 
DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 
Parties 

 
1. Plaintiff Florence Speedway, Inc., operates an automobile racing facility at 12234 U.S. 

42, Walton, KY 41094 and is located in Boone County, Kentucky; the facility includes 

both a gift shop and snack bar. 

2. Plaintiff Theodore J. Roberts resides at 2271 Teal Briar Lane, Apt. 208 in Burlington, KY 

41005.  He is suing to challenge the Defendants’ requirements, without exception, 

regarding mask usage for barbershops.  Mr. Roberts has diagnosed asthma and mask 

usage presents a particular threat to his health.  His barber, John Bernard, operates a 

barbershop at 9900 Old Union Road, STE A, in Union, KY 41091, doing business as 

 
1 The Kentucky Attorney General is served pursuant to K.R.S. 418.075, but is not made a party. 
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Lefty’s Barbershop and is located in Boone County, Kentucky.  Mr. Bernard has 

confirmed under oath that, but for the fact of Defendants’ mandated mask usage, he 

would serve Mr. Roberts, without requiring Mr. Roberts to wear a mask, as a result of 

Mr. Roberts’ asthma diagnosis and the fact that mask usage presents a health risk for Mr. 

Roberts. 

3. Plaintiff Ridgeway Properties, LLC d/b/a Beans Café & Bakery (“Beans Café”) operates 

a restaurant, café and bakery, at 21 Taft Highway, Dry Ridge, KY 41035 and is located in 

Grant County, Kentucky.  

4. Plaintiff Little Links to Learning, LLC, operates a daycare center at 1945 Highland Pike, 

Ft. Wright, KY 41017, and is located in Kenton County, Kentucky. 

5. Defendant, Northern Kentucky Independent Health District, is a duly authorized local 

health district which, among other things, enforces public health orders in Northern 

Kentucky, including in Boone, Kenton, Campbell, and Grant counties, pursuant to KRS 

Chapter 212, including those specific statutory provisions challenged in this case. 

6. Defendant Lynne Saddler, M.D. is the District Director of Health of the Northern 

Kentucky Independent Health District.  Dr. Saddler is charged with enforcing and does 

enforce the public health orders in Northern Kentucky, including in Boone, Kenton, 

Campbell, and Grant counties, pursuant to KRS Chapter 212, including those specific 

statutory provisions challenged in this case. 

7. Defendant Hon. Andrew Beshear is the duly elected Governor of Kentucky.  He is only 

sued in his official capacity.  He issued, or authorized the issuance of, the Challenged 

Orders in this case, and he is responsible for their enforcement.  
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8. Defendant, Kentucky Cabinet for Health and Family Services, is the Cabinet empowered 

under K.R.S. 194A.010 for “operating the public health … programs in the 

Commonwealth.”  It is through the authority delegated to the Cabinet that the Challenged 

Orders are enforced and/or promulgated in this case. 

9. Defendant Eric Friedlander is the acting Secretary of the Cabinet for Health and Family 

Services, and is only sued in his official capacity.  He issued, or authorized the issuance 

of the Challenged Orders in this case, and he is responsible for their enforcement.   

10. Defendant Dr. Steven Stack, M.D. is the commissioner for the Kentucky Department of 

Public Health, and is only sued in his official capacity.   He issued, or authorized the 

issuance of the Challenged Orders in this case, and he is responsible for their 

enforcement. 

Venue 

11. Venue is proper in this Court under K.R.S. 452.405, because the primary harm has 

occurred in Boone County, and under K.R.S. 452.400 and K.R.S. 452.460, because a 

Defendant resides in this County and one of the primary enforcers of the challenged 

orders, the Northern Kentucky Independent Health District, is located in this County. 

Kentucky’s COVID-19 Response Actions 

12. On March 6, 2020, Governor Andrew Beshear issued a state of emergency Executive 

Order 2020-215.  Among other things, this Order declared an emergency for COVID-19 

in and for Kentucky.  See Exhibit 1, hereto. 

13. Throughout March, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees, specifically Cabinet for 

Health and Family Services Secretary Eric Friedlander and Dr. Steven Stack, M.D., 
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Kentucky Commissioner of Public Health, issued a number of orders to persons and 

businesses concerning COVID-19. 

14. On March 16, 2020, in response to COVID-19, the Governor and/or his designees 

ordered restaurants to limit services to carry-out or pickup or delivery only.  See Exhibit 

2, hereto. 

15. On March 17, 2020, in response to COVID-19, the Governor and/or his designees shut 

down certain businesses that involved public congregation, while making a value 

judgment that other businesses should be left open by deeming those businesses 

“essential”.   See Exhibit 3, hereto.  These “essential” businesses that were permitted to 

remain open included businesses involved in industrial manufacturing, construction, 

certain retail and consumer goods, as well as gas stations and hotels. 

16. On March 19, 2020, in response to COVID-19, the Governor and/or his designees 

prohibited some public gatherings they deemed to be unimportant, while making 

exceptions for others they deemed important.  See Exhibit 4, hereto. 

17. On March 22, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees shut down additional retail 

businesses to in-person traffic they deemed “non-life sustaining,” but left other retail 

businesses they deemed “life sustaining” to remain open.  An example of the business the 

Defendants deem life sustaining includes the sales of scratch-off lottery tickets and 6 

packs of beer at convenience stores.  See Exhibit 5, hereto. 

18. On March 25, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees shut down additional businesses 

for in-person work, while leaving others open.  See Exhibit 6, hereto. 

19. On April 8, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees placed further restrictions on certain 

retail/grocery establishments that limited shopping to one adult per household (with 
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exceptions such as for dependent children).  There were no limits set on the non-essential 

or non-life sustaining items the one adult could purchase from the essential or life 

sustaining businesses.  See Exhibit 7, hereto. 

20. On May 11, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees established “Minimum 

Requirements” for certain businesses being allowed to re-open.  See Exhibit 8, hereto. 

21. On 20, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees established certain requirements for 

certain retail stores, and for certain allowed gatherings of people of up to 10 people.  See 

Exhibit 9, hereto. 

22. On May 22, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees established requirements for 

restaurants.  See Exhibit 10, hereto. 

23. Also, on May 22, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees established requirements for 

certain businesses, including barber shops.  See Exhibit 11, hereto. 

24. On June 3, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees established requirements for 

automobile racing and auctions, among other things.  See Exhibit 12, hereto. 

25. On June 8, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees established requirements for 

recreation venues such as museums and other public attractions, among other things.  See 

Exhibit 13, hereto. 

26. And on June 15, 2020, the Governor and/or his designees established requirements for 

other recreation venues such as museums and other public attractions, among other 

things.  See Exhibit 14, hereto. 

27. The terms “life sustaining,” “non-life sustaining,” “essential,” and “non-essential,” as 

well as the Defendants’ deciding some activity is important while other activity is 

unimportant, are all value judgments made by politicians and are not based on science.  
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Further, the orders at issue contain mandatory language, including the terms “must” and 

“shall.”  This means the shutdown of businesses in the Commonwealth has been 

arbitrary, capricious and inherently unfair, resulting in the disparate treatment of similar 

activities and/or similarly situated activities that are common throughout the community. 

28. Collectively, these requirements, in Exhibits 1 through 14, are designated as the 

“Challenged Orders.”  None of these orders went through the K.R.S. Chapter 13A 

procedures for rulemaking, even though Chapter 13A provides for emergency 

procedures; K.R.S. Chapter 13A provides important procedural due process protections 

for the public.  Id. 

29. The Plaintiffs are willing to establish and abide by reasonable procedures to help stop the 

spread of COVID-19, but cannot comply with the requirements of the Challenged Orders; 

in the alternative, the Challenged Orders cause substantial hardship to Plaintiffs who have 

been adversely affected thereby. 

The Challenged Orders are contradictory, ludicrous, arbitrary, and discriminatory 
 

30. The Challenged Orders are contradictory, ludicrous, arbitrary, and discriminatory, as 

explained herein. 

Florence Speedway, Inc. 

31. Currently, Florence Speedway, Inc. must adhere to the requirements for automobile 

racing contained in Exhibit 12.  Those requirements include the following mandatory 

provisions: 

a. Racetracks must permit only authorized employees and essential drivers and 

crews on the premises. This includes, but is not limited to, racetrack employees, 

race teams (e.g., drivers, pit crews, and other support staff), emergency medical 
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personnel, and necessary suppliers and vendors (For instance, these necessary 

suppliers and vendors include the vendor who restocks the coke machine). 

b. Racetracks must prohibit fans and outside media. 

c. Racetracks must ensure that employees, drivers or their crews not bring any 

guests, including any family members. 

d. Racetracks must ensure racetrack kitchens or other food facilities on premises 

follow social distancing while in the kitchen, to the greatest extent practicable, 

and provide food only via carry-out or curbside pick-up. 

e. Racetracks must ensure employees, racing crews and others (e.g. emergency 

medical crews and suppliers) use appropriate face coverings and other personal 

protective equipment (PPE).  No sharing of PPE is permissible.  Racetracks must 

ensure employees and racing crews wear appropriate face coverings at all times 

“practicable”.  For employees who are isolated in closed offices or assigned areas 

with more than six (6) feet of social distancing, face coverings are not necessary 

at all times.  However, when an employee comes within six feet of other people, a 

face covering must be worn.   If not required by OSHA for a job task, N95/ KN95 

masks shall not be provided to non-healthcare sector workers as face coverings. 

Cloth masks shall be used instead. 

32. The requirement that only “essential” people are allowed at the facility, such as the 

vending machine supplier, but not fans, media, or any others, is discriminatory and 

arbitrary (see ¶¶ 30(a),(b) and(c)). 
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33. The science behind the transmission of the coronavirus is that, generally speaking, 

outdoor gatherings are safer than indoor gatherings, particularly if people are social 

distancing and/or wearing masks. 

34. Dr. Stack has testified under oath to the truth of the factual allegations set forth in 

Paragraph 32 in his deposition in the matter of Ramsek v. Beshear, EDKY 3:20-CV-

00036. 

35. In contrast to the mandatory requirements faced by Florence Speedway, Inc., other 

currently allowed outdoor gatherings including, without limitation, outdoor auctions, 

where participants are yelling and shouting bids, face no limits on the size of crowds and 

face no limits other than to voluntarily enforce six-foot social distancing. (Exhibit 12).  

Moreover, patrons and fans are permitted in other indoor settings that are riskier from the 

spread of coronavirus perspective, such as bowling alleys (at 33%, Exhibit 12) and 

movie theaters (at 33% at Exhibit 12). 

36. Plaintiff, Florence Speedway, Inc., has grandstands for spectators which are outdoors, 

and it is fully capable of (and willing to) limit capacity to 33% of the seating space, and 

also to enforce in that seating space 6-foot social distancing between persons not from the 

same household. 

37. The requirement limiting Florence Speedway, Inc.’s food service to carry-out only is 

likewise discriminatory and arbitrary.  This is because restaurants generally are permitted 

to operate at 33% capacity with six-foot social distancing indoors, but unlimited numbers 

outdoors (Exhibit 10).  There is no justification to treat food patrons at Florence 

Speedway, Inc. differently than outdoor restaurants. 
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38. Finally, as to the no exceptions allowed PPE requirement for racing, masks are required  

even if doing so would cause the particular person health or safety issues (Exhibit 12).  

This is disparate and arbitrary treatment when compared to a number of businesses that 

have been permitted to re-open with health and safety exceptions, such as "Retail 

employees are not required to wear face masks while alone in personal offices or if doing 

so would pose a serious threat to their health or safety" (Exhibit 9 at p.16); "Restaurant 

employees are not required to wear face masks while alone in personal offices, while 

more than six (6) feet from any other individual, or if doing so would pose a serious 

threat to their health or safety." (Exhibit 10 at p. 5); "Auctions must ensure that all staff 

wear facemasks or other face coverings whenever they are within six (6) feet of another 

person unless doing so would represent a serious risk to the staff member’s health or 

safety." (Exhibit 12 at p.5). 

39. Not surprisingly, this arbitrary and capricious requirement prevents Florence Speedway, 

Inc. from complying with the Americans With Disabilities Act, and several racing teams 

that race at the facility have members with disabilities covered under the Act who are 

negatively impacted by the lack of this exception, which makes enforcement of this 

requirement on its face, as to those requirements, exceptionally problematic.  See, also, 

47 U.S.C. 12182. 

Barbershops and Mr. Roberts 

40. Barbershops, including Lefty’s Barbershop, are subject to the requirements for barber 

shops contained in Exhibit 11.  Those requirements include the following: 

a. Barbers/cosmetologists/hair salons “must” ensure clients and other visitors (e.g., 

suppliers and vendors) wear face masks while on the premises. 
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Barbers/cosmetologists/hair salons must make masks available for clients; 

however, clients may bring and use their own face masks.  If clients, suppliers or 

vendors refuse to wear masks the barbershop/salon may refuse those individuals 

entrance to the facility. 

b. Barbers/cosmetologists/hair salons must establish a policy as to whether to serve 

clients who do not adhere to the business’s policy on requiring masks. 

41. The customer face masking requirement is contradictory, discriminatory, dangerous, and 

potentially illegal.  There is a flat requirement for customers to wear masks: 

“Barbers/cosmetologists/hair salons must ensure clients and other visitors (e.g., suppliers 

and vendors) wear face masks while on the premises…” (Exhibit 11).  While other 

businesses and activities have an exception for mask wearing if it is “dangerous” for 

employees (see ¶38), no other businesses have requirements for customers to wear masks, 

even those that involve equally or more high-risk activities (instead, there are mere 

recommendations).  For instance, under the Defendants’ current orders "Tattoo parlors 

should ensure clients and other visitors (e.g., suppliers and vendors) wear face masks 

while in the tattoo parlor." "Tanning salon businesses should ensure clients and other 

visitors (e.g., suppliers and vendors) wear face masks while in the tanning salon." "Nail 

salon businesses should ensure clients and other visitors (e.g., suppliers and vendors) 

wear face masks while in the nail salon." 

42. Mr. Bernard has confirmed under oath that but for the fact Defendants have mandated, 

without exceptions, mask usage for patrons, he would serve Mr. Roberts without 

requiring him to wear a mask as a result of Mr. Roberts’ asthma diagnosis and the fact 

that mask usage presents a health risk for Mr. Roberts. 
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43.  This requirement also presents issues for Lefty’s Barbershop under the Americans With 

Disabilities Act, particularly as to claims by Mr. Roberts.  If Mr. Bernard does not 

accommodate customers with disabilities who are unable to wear masks, he could face 

liability under the ADA.  See, also, 47 U.S.C. 12182. 

Bean’s Cafe 

44. Bean’s Cafe is subject to the requirements for restaurants, contained in Exhibit 10.  

Those requirements include the following: 

a. Restaurants must ensure appropriate face coverings and other personal protective 

equipment (PPE) are used by employees whenever they are near other employees 

or customers, so long as such use does not jeopardize the employees’ health or 

safety. 

b. Restaurants must limit the number of customers present in any given restaurant to 

33% of the maximum permitted occupancy of seating capacity, assuming all 

individuals in the restaurant are able to maintain six (6) feet of space between 

each other with that level of occupancy.  This means no person can be within six 

(6) feet of a person seated at another table or booth. 

45. There are no requirements for employees to wear masks who are cooking in the hot 

kitchen.  Nevertheless, the use of facemasks is required for frontline employees, even 

though: (i) customers need not wear facemasks; (ii) cloth facemasks do not protect the 

wearer; (iii) there is little to no scientific basis for requirements for others to wear 

facemasks, including guidance from the World Health Organization.2 

 
2 https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1279750/retrieve  (last visited 6/22/2020) 
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46. The 33% capacity requirements, and six-foot distancing requirements for customers at 

tables, are arbitrary and capricious, and make it difficult, if not impossible, for the 

business to turn a profit. 

47.  Bean’s Cafe is willing to adhere to appropriate safety requirements to help spread the 

stop of COVID, including, without limitation, enforcing spacing requirements between 

persons and ensuring six-foot distancing for any scenario in which someone is facing 

someone else.  This would result in customers facing away from each other being closer 

than six feet.  Bean’s Cafe is also willing to use partitioning to help separate customers 

and encourage distancing, and to utilize reduced capacity of 50% of building occupancy 

indoors.  Bean’s Cafe has no problems with conducting daily temperature checks for 

employees and continues to implement this requirement. 

Little Links to Learning 

48. In addition to a host of normal requirements to which daycare centers are subject, Little 

Links to Learning, LLC’s daycare is now subject to the requirements for daycare centers 

contained in Exhibit 14.  Those requirements include the following: 

a. All childcare programs will need to utilize a maximum group size of ten children 

per group. … 

b. Children will remain in the same group of ten children all day without being 

combined with another classroom. 

c. Adults must wear a face mask while inside a childcare program (in-home or 

center-based) unless doing so would represent a serious risk to their health or 

safety or they are more than 6 feet away from any other individual. 
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49. The ten children per group requirement constitutes a significant limitation on the 

operation of daycare centers, and, as a result, daycare providers are forced to operate their 

businesses at a loss.   

50. Even worse, the requirements encourage walls to be built in existing classrooms, even 

though the same risk is largely present since these do not reach the door. 

51. Nevertheless, Little Links to Learning, LLC is willing to limit groups to 20 or less, to 

implement daily temperature checks, implement the required sanitation and hygiene 

procedures, and enforce regular handwashing. 

52. The requirement that all children remain in the same group all day is a significant issue 

for end-of-day operations.  The usual and customary practice was to combine children 

from the same household together.  The fact that these same children can and will be in 

the same car together, and live in the same household together, makes the application of 

the “same group” requirement, as to children in the same household, arbitrary and absurd. 

53. The mask requirement presents a significant issue for childcare settings.  Children cue off 

of adults for key learning functions, including speaking, non-verbal communication, and 

other matters.  Mask wearing in childcare settings for adults caring for children in the two 

years to seven years range (which is not a requirement for the children themselves) 

presents severe issues: (i) calming children who are upset; and (ii) assisting children in 

the learning process, since non-verbal communication is typically used to assist in the 

learning process. 
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54. This is true, even though prevailing evidence is that (i) cloth facemasks do not protect the 

wearer; and (ii) there is little to no basis for requirements for others to wear facemasks, 

including guidance from the World Health Organization.3 

Concerns with retaliation from the Defendants 
 

55. Each of the Plaintiffs, with the exception of Mr. Roberts, operates in industries that are 

regulated by the Defendants. 

56. Defendants, particularly the state Defendants, have had a history of targeting people who 

engage in constitutionally protected speech, either through notices that they have placed 

on cars for church goers, public condemnation by the Governor for those who engage in 

constitutionally protected protests, and other activities. 

57. The right to file a lawsuit is constitutionally protected under Sections 1, 8, and 14 of the 

Kentucky Constitution. 

58. Plaintiffs reasonably fear retaliation by Defendants as a result of their filing of this matter 

and/or by Defendants’ agents and employees. 

Class Action Allegations 

59. Plaintiffs reincorporate the preceding Paragraphs as if fully written herein. 

60. The actions and violations herein complained of affect millions of Kentuckians. 

61. Kentuckians are suffering an unemployment rate exceeding 40% in part due to the 

Challenged Orders. 

62. Pursuant to C.R. 23.01: (a) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable, (b) there are questions of law or fact common to the class, (c) the claims or 

defenses of the representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class, 

 
3 https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1279750/retrieve  (last visited 6/22/2020) 
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and (d) the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

class. 

63. Pursuant to C.R. 23.02: (a) The prosecution of separate actions by or against individual 

members of the class would create a risk of (i) inconsistent or varying adjudications with 

respect to individual members of the class which would establish incompatible standards 

of conduct for the party opposing the class, or, (ii) adjudications with respect to 

individual members of the class which would as a practical matter be dispositive of the 

interests of the other members not parties to the adjudications or substantially impair or 

impede their ability to protect their interests; or (b) the party opposing the class has acted 

or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby making appropriate 

final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the class as a 

whole. 

64. Plaintiffs seek a Plaintiff class certification of any and all businesses within the 

Commonwealth who are impacted by these or any other Challenged Order, with subclass 

certification of each Plaintiff or group of Plaintiffs within an industry affected by a 

particular Challenged Order, who have been adversely impacted by such Challenged 

Order. 

Claims – Count I – Declaratory and Injunctive Relief – KRS Chapter 418 

65. Plaintiff reincorporates the foregoing paragraphs as if full written herein. 

66. Injunctive relief is authorized pursuant to K.R.S. 418.055, and C.R. 65, and Plaintiff 

seeks injunctive relief as prayed for herein. 

A. The Challenged Orders violate Section 1, of the Kentucky Constitution 
 



17 
 

67. The Challenged Orders, including the use of K.R.S. 194A.025, 39A.100, 214.020, to 

issue these orders, violates Section 1 of the Kentucky Constitution, which provides, for 

rights of life, liberty, pursuit of safety and happiness, and acquiring and protecting 

property. 

68. K.R.S. 194A.025, 39A.100, 214.020, as they have been used to issue the Challenged 

Orders, are unconstitutional as applied under Section 1 of the Kentucky Constitution, as 

more fully explained in Louisville of Kuhn, 284 Ky. 684, 688 (1940); Darlington v. 

Board of Councilmen, 282 Ky. 778 (1940); Underhill v. Murphy, 117 Ky. 640, 645 

(1904); Hill v. United Public Workers Union, 314 Ky. 791, 799 (1950); Lawton v. 

Stewart Dry Goods Co., 197 Ky. 394, 397 (1923); and Ware v. Ammon, 212 Ky. 152 

(1925). 

B. The Challenged Orders violate Section 2, of the Kentucky Constitution 

 
69. Section 2 of the Kentucky Constitution provides: “Absolute and arbitrary power over the 

lives, liberty and property of freemen exists nowhere in a republic, not even in the largest 

majority.” 

70. The Challenged Orders are arbitrary and capricious, making distinctions about whether a 

particular activity or business is essential or not, whether and how it must operate without 

imposing the same requirements upon similar activities.  These Challenged Orders impair 

the right to earn living.  They thus violate Section 2 of the Kentucky Constitution.  Bond 

Bros. v. Louisville & Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer Dist., 307 Ky. 689, 211 

S.W.2d 867, 1948 Ky. LEXIS 805 (Ky. 1948); Sanitation Dist. of Jefferson County v. 

Louisville, 308 Ky. 368, 213 S.W.2d 995, 1948 Ky. LEXIS 879 (Ky. 1948); Louisville 

Shopping Center, Inc. v. St. Matthews, 635 S.W.2d 307, 1982 Ky. LEXIS 266 (Ky. 



18 
 

1982); Owensboro v. McCormick, 581 S.W.2d 3, 1979 Ky. LEXIS 252 (Ky. 1979); 

Foster v. Goodpaster, 290 Ky. 410, 161 S.W.2d 626, 1942 Ky. LEXIS 418 (Ky. 1942); 

Beacon Liquors v. Martin, 279 Ky. 468, 131 S.W.2d 446, 1939 Ky. LEXIS 304 (Ky. 

1939); Louisville v. Sebree, 308 Ky. 420, 214 S.W.2d 248, 1948 Ky. LEXIS 907 (Ky. 

1948); Ashland v. Heck's, Inc., 407 S.W.2d 421, 1966 Ky. LEXIS 164 (Ky. 1966); 

Jackson v. Murray-Reed-Slone & Co., 297 Ky. 1, 178 S.W.2d 847, 1944 Ky. LEXIS 652 

(Ky. 1944); Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Co. v. Kentucky Tax Com., 278 Ky. 367, 128 

S.W.2d 581, 1939 Ky. LEXIS 406 (Ky. 1939); Lexington v. Motel Developers, Inc., 465 

S.W.2d 253, 1971 Ky. LEXIS 443 (Ky. 1971); Jahr v. Radcliff, 503 S.W.2d 743, 1973 

Ky. LEXIS 48 (Ky. 1973). 

 

C. The Challenged Orders violate Section 15, of the Kentucky Constitution 

71. Section 15 of the Kentucky Constitution provides: “No power to suspend laws shall be 

exercised unless by the General Assembly or its authority.” 

72. The Orders at issue constitute a suspension of Kentucky statutes governing the regulated 

industry, specifically K.R.S. 317.410, et. seq.. 

73. No provision cited by the Governor, including, without limitation, K.R.S. Chapter 39A, 

authorizes the suspension of these statutes. 

74. The Challenged Orders are thus violative of Section 15 of the Kentucky Constitution.  

Baker v. Fletcher, 204 S.W.3d 589, 2006 Ky. LEXIS 153 (Ky. 2006); Gering v. Brown 

Hotel Corp., 396 S.W.2d 332, 1965 Ky. LEXIS 113 (Ky. 1965). 

D. The Challenged Orders violate Sections 27 and 28, of the Kentucky 
Constitution 
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75. Section 27 of the Kentucky Constitution provides: “The powers of the government of the 

Commonwealth of Kentucky shall be divided into three distinct departments, and each of 

them be confined to a separate body of magistracy, to wit: Those which are legislative, to 

one; those which are executive, to another; and those which are judicial, to another. 

76. Section 28 of the Kentucky Constitution provides: “No person or collection of persons, 

being of one of those departments, shall exercise any power properly belonging to either 

of the others, except in the instances hereinafter expressly directed or permitted.” 

77. The Governor, and his designees, have and continue to engage in unconstitutional 

lawmaking; the Governor has inappropriately delegated his authority to his subordinates; 

and collectively the Challenged Orders violate Sections 27 and Section 28 of the 

Kentucky Constitution.   

78. To the extent K.R.S. 39A.100 or K.R.S. Chapter 214 is used to criminalize or otherwise 

penalize activities not explicitly set forth in those sections is an impermissible delegation 

of pure legislative powers and is unconstitutional.  Diemer v. Commonwealth, Transp. 

Cabinet, Dep't of Highways, 786 S.W.2d 861, 1990 Ky. LEXIS 8 (Ky. 1990); Legislative 

Research Com. by Prather v. Brown, 664 S.W.2d 907, 1984 Ky. LEXIS 300 (Ky. 1984) 

(strict construction of separation of powers); Flying J Travel Plaza v. Transportation 

Cabinet, Dep't of Highways, 928 S.W.2d 344, 1996 Ky. LEXIS 41 (Ky. 1996).   

79. That is particularly the case in the absence of clear controlling principles to cabin the 

discretion of officials, which are not contained in any of the provisions utilized by the 

Governor and enforced by the Defendants.  Bd. of Trs. of the Judicial Form Ret. Sys. v. 

AG, 132 S.W.3d 770, 2003 Ky. LEXIS 238 (Ky. 2003); Kentucky Asso. of Chiropractors, 

Inc. v. Jefferson County Medical Soc., 549 S.W.2d 817, 1977 Ky. LEXIS 414 (Ky. 1977). 
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E. The Challenged Orders violate KRS Chapter 13A 
 
80. Under Kentucky law, K.R.S. Chapter 13A, and its various provisions, require that 

administrative regulations be promulgated by the executive branch if it involves a 

“statement of general applicability promulgated by an administrative body that 

implements, interprets, or prescribes law or policy, or describes the organization, 

procedure, or practice requirements of any administrative body.” 

81. The Challenged Orders are just such a pronouncement and promulgation. 

82. K.R.S. Chapter 13A, specifically K.R.S. 13A.190, governs emergency administrative 

regulations. 

83. K.R.S. Chapter 13A also provides important due process rights concerning the issuance 

of regulations. 

84. K.R.S. 214.020 does give the Cabinet certain powers to establish quarantines and issue 

orders, but these must be done as the “adopt[ion] and enforce[ment]” of “such rules and 

regulations” as to “quarantine and isolation.”  Again, no regulations have been issued.  

And the Challenged Orders extend well past quarantine and isolation measures and are 

thus invalid. 

85. The Challenged Orders have not been issued in accordance with K.R.S. Chapter 13A, and 

thus are invalid. 

F. K.R.S. 194A.025 provides no basis to issue the Challenged Orders 

86. K.R.S. 194A.025 provides, in relevant part, that “The secretary for health and family 

services and the secretary’s designated representatives in the discharge of the duties of 

the secretary may administer oaths and affirmations, take depositions, certify official acts, 

and issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of witnesses and production of books, 
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papers, correspondence, memoranda, and other records considered necessary and relevant 

as evidence at hearings held in connection with the administration of the cabinet.” 

87. This provision gives the Secretary no authority to issue the Challenged Orders. 

G. K.R.S. 39A.100 provides no basis to issue the Challenged Orders 

88. K.R.S. 39A.100 provides for certain powers to the Governor in the event of a state of 

emergency. 

89. There is no indication that the General Assembly intended, through the language of 

K.R.S. 39A, or otherwise, for any emergency powers to exist for a statewide disease 

outbreak, particularly where K.R.S. 214.020 exists covering the particular subject matter. 

90. There is no indication that the General Assembly intended an emergency to be the 

Governor making such a declaration statewide, for months on end, in an open-ended 

fashion. 

91. K.R.S. 39A.100(c) does permit the Governor to seize property, but in so doing, he is 

required to make just compensation under K.R.S. 39A.100(e), which he has not done. 

92. In the event that this Court finds that Governor has utilized his powers that he actually 

has under K.R.S. 39A.100(c), and that K.R.S. 39A.100 is constitutional, Plaintiff seeks a 

declaration and injunction against the Governor to comply with K.R.S. 39A.100(e) to 

make just compensation. 

93. Nor does K.R.S. 39A.100(j) give the Governor the ability to suspend existing laws, or to 

legislate by fiat, since it has an express provision that indicates the Governor may take no 

actions that are prohibited by other law. 
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94. K.R.S. 39A.100 gives the Governor no authority to issue the Challenged Orders.  Further, 

K.R.S. 39A.100 is limited to the Governor, and does not permit the delegation of any of 

his powers. 

H. An anti-retaliation injunction should issue 

95. The right to file a lawsuit is constitutionally protected under Sections 1, 8, and 14 of the 

Kentucky Constitution. 

96. Plaintiffs seek an injunction against any retaliation from Defendants or their agents for 

the filing of this matter. 

I. Injunctive Relief should be granted 

97. Plaintiffs have been, and continue to be, irreparably harmed.   

98. The business Plaintiffs are and continue to be irreparably harmed in that they cannot do 

business and comply with the requirements, without operating at a loss. 

99. They continue to operate with reasonable safety precautions, and neither the public, nor 

third parties, will be harmed by the issuance of an injunction, since similar activities are 

permitted to other similarly situated businesses. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand: 

 Declaratory relief, that the Challenged Orders are unconstitutional, facially or as applied 

under Sections 1, 2, 15, 27 and/or 28 of the Kentucky Constitution; that K.R.S. 39A.100 

is illegal and unconstitutional and of no force and effect; and enjoining Defendants from 

enforcing the Cha; 

 Declaratory relief, that the Challenged Orders are illegal, for failure to comply with the 

rulemaking requirements of K.R.S. Chapter 13A; 
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 Declaratory relief that Defendants have no basis under the Kentucky Revised Statutes to 

issue the Challenged Orders; 

 In the event that the Court does find K.R.S. 39A.100 constitutional and the Challenged 

Orders validly enacted, declaratory relief that the Governor must make an offer of just 

compensation under K.R.S. 39A.100(e) concerning just compensation; and 

 Appropriate injunctive relief, including, without limitation, that the Challenged Orders 

may not be enforced; and 

 Such other relief as this Court may find just and proper. 

    Respectfully submitted, 
 
       /s/Christopher Wiest________ 
       Christopher Wiest (KBA 90725) 
       25 Town Center Blvd, STE 104 
       Crestview Hills, KY 41017 

513-257-1895 (v) 
chris@cwiestlaw.com 
Trial Attorney for Plaintiff  
 
/s/Thomas Bruns 
Thomas Bruns (KBA 84985) 
4750 Ashwood Drive, STE 200 
Cincinnati, OH 45241 
tbruns@bcvalaw.com 
Co-Counsel for the Plaintiff 
 
/s/Robert A. Winter, Jr. __________ 
Robert A. Winter, Jr. (KBA #78230) 
P.O. Box 175883 
Fort Mitchell, KY 41017-5883 
(859) 250-3337 
robertawinterjr@gmail.com 
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    ORDER 

      June 3, 2020 

On March 6, 2020, Governor Andy Beshear signed Executive Order 2020-215, declaring a state of 
emergency in the Commonwealth due to the outbreak of COVID-19 virus, a public health emergency. 
Pursuant to the authority in KRS 194A.025, KRS 214.020, and Executive Orders 2020-215 and 2020-
323, the Cabinet for Health and Family Services, Department for Public Health, hereby orders the 
following directives to reduce and slow the spread of COVID-19:  

1. The May 22, 2020 Order of the Cabinet for Health and Family Services that 
amended the March 16, 2020 Order of the Cabinet for Health and Family Services 
concerning restaurants (the “March 16 Food and Beverage Order”) and the March 
17, 2020, Order of the Cabinet for Health and Family Services concerning public-
facing businesses (the “March 17 Public-Facing Businesses Order”) is hereby 
amended as follows. 

2.  Effective June 1, 2020, the March 17, 2020 Public-Facing Businesses Order 
(as amended) shall no longer apply to the following businesses or entities: (1) 
Auctions; (2) Auto/Dirt track racing; (3) Aquatic centers; (4) Bowling alleys; (5) 
Fishing tournaments; (6) Fitness centers; and (7) Movie theaters. Effective June 3, 
2020, the March 17, 2020 Public-Facing Businesses Order (as amended) shall no 
longer apply to the miniature golf businesses or entities. The businesses or entities 
identified in sections (1) through (7) of this paragraph must, in addition to the 
minimum requirements for all entities in the Commonwealth of Kentucky 
attached to and incorporated by reference in the May 11, 2020 Order of the 
Cabinet, implement and follow the specific Requirements for each respective 
business or entity, which are attached hereto and fully incorporated by reference 
herein. Miniature golf businesses or entities must implement and follow the 
minimum requirements for all entities in the Commonwealth attached to and 
incorporated by reference in the May 11, 2020 Order of the Cabinet. The specific 



Requirements for each business identified in sections (1) through (7) of this 
paragraph and the minimum requirements for all entities are available online at: 
https://healthyatwork.ky.gov. 

3. The March 17, 2020 Public-Facing Businesses Order (as amended) otherwise 
remains in effect except as amended by the May 22, 2020 Order and this Order. 

4. The March 16, 2020 Food and Beverage Order (as amended) otherwise remains 
in effect except as amended by the May 22, 2020 Order. 

5. Establishments and public-facing businesses that encourage public 
congregation or that, by the nature of the service to the public, cannot comply 
with CDC guidelines concerning social distancing, that were ordered to cease all 
in-person operations under the March 16, 2020 Food and Beverage Order or the 
March 17, 2020 Public-Facing Businesses Order remain prohibited from 
conducting all in-person operations unless otherwise provided in May 22, 2020 
Order and this Order. 

6. For the avoidance of doubt, all public facing-businesses permitted to operate 
must to the extent practicable implement Centers for Disease Control guidance, 
including: 

 maintaining a distance of 6 feet between persons;  

 ensuring employees practice appropriate hygiene measures, including 
regular, thorough handwashing; 

 ensuring that employees who are sick remain home; and 

 regularly cleaning and disinfecting frequently touched objects and 
surfaces. 

7. Failure to follow the requirements provided in this Order and any other 
Executive Order and any Cabinet Order, including but not limited to the Orders of 
the Cabinet for Health and Family Services, is a violation of the Orders issued 
under KRS Chapter 39A, and could subject businesses to closure or additional 
penalties as authorized by law. 

8. The Department for Public Health hereby delegates to local health departments 
the authority to take all necessary measures to implement this Order. 

The Secretary for the Cabinet for Health and Family Services has been designated by the Governor to 
deliver these directives during this public health emergency. The Cabinet for Health and Family 
Services will continue to provide information and updates during the duration of this Public Health 
Emergency. Prior orders of the Cabinet for Health and Family Services remain in effect unless 
inconsistent with this Order.  
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          VERSION 1.0 – Effective June 1, 2020 

 

Requirements for Automobile Racing Tracks 
 

In addition to the Healthy at Work Minimum Requirements, automobile racing 
tracks must meet the requirements below in order to reopen and remain open: 

 
Social Distancing Requirements 

 Racetracks must permit only authorized employees and essential drivers and crews on 
the premises. This includes, but is not limited to, racetrack employees, race teams (e.g., 
drivers, pit crews, and other support staff), emergency medical personnel, and necessary 
suppliers and vendors (e.g., gasoline suppliers). 

 Racetracks must ensure that everyone on premises adhere to social distancing guidelines 
by staying at least six (6) feet away from other people whenever possible. Controls must 
be established and maintained when six (6) feet of physical distancing is not feasible. 
 

 Racetracks must prohibit fans and outside media. 
 

 Racetracks must ensure that employees, drivers or their crews may not bring guests, 
including family members. 

 
 Racetracks must ensure, to the greatest extent practicable, that drivers and their crews 

on the racetrack premises remain in their assigned pre- and post-trackside space, except 
when going to and from the track, bathrooms, or dining facilities for the purpose of food 
carry-out or pick-up. 

 
 Racetracks must, to the greatest extent practicable, stagger normal procedures (e.g., race 

vehicle shipping/arrival and employee entry/exit) to ensure that employees do not 
congregate. Racetracks should ensure that employees and other persons present abide 
by appropriate social distancing requirements. 

 
 Racetracks must ensure racetrack kitchens or other food facilities on premises follow 

social distancing while in the kitchen, to the greatest extent practicable, and provide food 
only via-carry out or curbside pick-up. 

 
Cleaning and Disinfecting Requirements 

 Racetracks must ensure that adequate supplies of soap and/or sanitizer are readily 
available to employees and that they promote frequent hand washing by setting up 
multiple, easily accessible sanitation locations. Refer to CDC guidelines for best 
sanitization practices. 

 
 Racetracks must ensure cleaning and sanitation of frequently touched equipment, tools, 

objects, and surfaces with appropriate disinfectants. This may include, but is not limited 
to: vehicle/equipment door handles; keys; gear shifts; steering wheel/operator controls 
and levers; fuel pump dispensers; door knobs; light switches; phones; 
computers/keyboards; copiers; elevator buttons; toilets; faucets; sinks; countertops; 



 
paper towel dispensers; desktops; handrails; folders; vending machines; counters; tables; 
and cabinets and knobs. Appropriate disinfectants include EPA registered household 
disinfectants, diluted household bleach solution, and alcohol solutions containing at least 
60% alcohol. 

 
 Racetracks must ensure, to greatest extent practicable, that facilities and work areas are 

sanitized and disinfected after persons suspected or confirmed to have COVID-19 have 
been in the facility or work area. 

 
 Racetracks must, to the greatest extent practicable, discourage employees and racing 

crews from sharing tools or equipment. Shared tools and equipment must be disinfected 
between uses. 

 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

Requirements 

 Racetracks must ensure employees, racing crews and others (e.g. emergency medical 
crews and suppliers) use appropriate face coverings and other personal protective 
equipment (PPE). No sharing of PPE is permissible. Racetracks should ensure employees 
and racing crews wear appropriate face coverings at all times practicable. For employees 
that are isolated in closed offices or assigned areas with more than six (6) feet of social 
distancing, face coverings are not necessary at all times. However, when an employee 
may come within six feet of other people, a face covering must be worn. If not required 
by OSHA for a job task, N95 / KN95 masks shall not be provided to non-healthcare sector 
workers as face coverings. Cloth masks shall be used instead. 

Training and Safety Requirements 
 

 Racetracks must educate and train all individuals including employees, temporary 
employees, contractors, vendors, customers, etc., regarding Healthy at Work protocols. 
Racetracks must communicate with employees any industry, company, and/or site 
specific plans, guidelines and requirements. Any updates must also be shared to ensure 
understanding and compliance. All education and training must be communicated in the 
language best understood by the individual receiving the education and training. 
Businesses should post signage at employee entrances and/or where other essential 
employee information is posted such as bulletin boards on construction sites. 

 Racetracks must appoint a Safety Coordinator to manage and maintain compliance of 
the Healthy at Work requirements. 

 
 Racetracks must provide special accommodations for persons at higher risk for severe 

illness per CDC guidelines (these guidelines are available at: 
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/faq.html#Higher-Risk). 
 

 Racetracks must require sick workers or race team members to stay at home or go home 
if they start to have symptoms. Racetracks must have COVID-19 testing information 
readily available for employees and race team members, including testing location 
information. 
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 VERSION 1.0 – Effective June 8, 2020 

Requirements for Horse Shows 

In addition to the Healthy at Work Minimum Requirements, horse shows 
must meet the requirements below in order to reopen and remain open: 

Social Distancing Requirements for Horse Shows 

Horse shows must ensure that the number of people on horse show grounds or in a ring does
not exceed the number that can safely socially distance at six (6) feet or more away from one
another - this may result in a smaller amount of competitors that would normally be allowed.

Horse shows must ensure that stalls, if used, are large enough to permit six (6) feet of social
distancing between exhibitors; if not, every other stall must be used.

Horse shows must ensure that horse trailers are parked a minimum of six (6) feet apart to the
greatest extent practicable.

Horse shows must arrange judges’ and other officials’ spaces to ensure that they can maintain
six (6) feet of social distance from others.

Horse shows must limit attendance to: essential staff, volunteers, and service providers; judges;
trainers; participants/riders; groomers, and; owners.  If a participant is a minor, their parents or
primary caregivers may attend with them.

Horse shows must not permit the public, spectators, fans, family members (other than
parents/caregivers of a minor), or outside media on competition grounds.

Horse shows must use online registration, check-in, and payment to the greatest extent
practicable.

Horse shows must configure any competition offices or check-in spaces to ensure that
both staff and competitors can remain six (6) feet apart to the greatest extent practicable.
Horse shows should consider markings showing six (6) feet of distance as well as plexiglass
or other physical, non-porous barriers in these spaces.

Horse shows must stagger horse arrival, check-in, entry, exit, and horse departure times
to avoid participants, staff, and volunteers congregating.



Temperature and Health Screening Requirements for Horse Shows 

Horse shows must require temperature and health screenings for all volunteers, officials,
competition staff, service providers, and participants consistent with the Temperature and
Health Screening Guidance in the Healthy At Work Minimum Requirements.  These screenings
may either be self-administered at home or administered on-site prior to entry.

Cleaning and Disinfecting Requirements for Horse Shows

Horse shows must ensure that their facilities, including stalls, locker rooms, common
areas, breakrooms and restrooms are properly cleaned and ventilated.  Horse shows are
encouraged to open exterior doors and windows to increase ventilation.

Horse shows should provide hand sanitizer, handwashing facilities, tissues and waste
baskets in convenient locations to the greatest extent practicable.

Horse shows must limit the use of shared equipment (e.g., tack, grooming supplies, lead
shanks) to the greatest extent practicable.  If equipment must be shared, horse shows
must sanitize that equipment between each use.

Horse shows making restrooms or locker rooms available must ensure frequently touched
surfaces are frequently cleaned and disinfected (e.g., door knobs and handles).

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) Requirements 

Horse shows must require a facemask or face covering for all staff, officials, volunteers,
service providers and participants when not mounted on a horse.  Horse shows do not
have to require participants on horseback to wear a mask, but the horse shows should
permit them to do so if they wish.  Horse shows must not disqualify or penalize a
participant for wearing a facemask or face covering while competing.

Horse shows should ensure that gloves are worn by any essential staff or volunteers when 
handling shared show equipment and that those gloves are replaced after each use.

Training and Safety Requirements for Horse Shows

Horse shows must train essential staff to use PPE. This training includes: when to use PPE;
what PPE is necessary; how to properly put on, use, and remove PPE; how to properly
dispose of or disinfect PPE; how to inspect PPE for damage; how to maintain PPE, and;
the limitations of PPE.

Horse shows must establish log-in procedures for essential staff and participants and
maintain that information for potential contact notification.



 VERSION 1.0 – Effective June 8, 2020 

Requirements for Educational & Cultural Opportunities and 
Attractions 

In addition to the Healthy at Work Minimum Requirements, educational and 
cultural opportunities and attractions facilities and businesses must meet the 
requirements below in order to reopen and remain open: 

Educational and cultural opportunities and attractions facilities and businesses include,
but are not limited to, the following:

o Aquariums, distilleries (including tours), libraries, limited outdoor attractions
(e.g., cave tours, zoos other than petting zoos, and the Salato Wildlife Education
Center), public and private museums and historic sites (e.g., the Kentucky Derby
Museum, Speed Museum and the Kentucky History Center), and wineries.1

Social Distancing Requirements 

All facilities and businesses that operate restaurants or snack bars as a component of their
facility or business must follow the Healthy at Work Requirements for Restaurants.

All facilities and businesses that operate retail stores as a component of their facility or
businesses must follow the Healthy at Work Requirements for Retail Businesses.

All facilities and businesses must minimize the use of any waiting areas.  Facilties and
businesses must make reservations and sell tickets over the phone or online to the
greatest extent practicable. For those facilities that cannot use online
reservations/ticketing/sales, the facility should install floor or wall decals for cashier
queuing areas to demark safe waiting distances of a six (6) feet minimums. Ticketing
employees should be shielded by glass or plexiglass and use appropriate personal
protective equipment.

Outdoor facilities and businesses must limit the persons, not including employees,
present in any given tourism facility or business to an amount small enough to permit at
least six (6) feet of social distancing between all individuals or households.  Additionally,
tourism facilities and businesses must follow the Healthy at Work Guidance for
Gatherings of Up To Ten (10) People.

1



Outdoor facilities and businesses must promote safe and healthy experiences by
following the Healthy At Work minimum requirements, to the greatest extent
practicable.

Outdoor facilities must develop and implement a plan and protocols to create
transmission barriers, where possible, and promote and enforce social distancing;
implement touchless solutions, where practical; and enhance and promote sanitation
and hygiene practices.

Indoor facilities and businesses must limit the persons, not including employees,
present
in any given tourism oriented facility or business to 33% of the capacity of the
facility. Additionally, tourism oriented facilities and businesses must follow the
Healthy at Work Guidance for Gatherings of Up To Ten (10) People.

o Additional guidance:

Facilities with exterior exhibits: promote and enforce social distancing and
masking when patrons and staff are in close proximity or passing by one
another; ensure patrons do not touch exhibits; and develop one-way traffic
touring routes/patterns, to the extent practicable.

Facilities with interior passive, self-guided tours: promote and enforce
social distancing and masking when patrons and staff are in close
proximity or passing by one another; ensure patrons do not touch
exhibits; develop one-way traffic touring routes/patterns, to the extent
practicable; and demarcate social distancing signage to avoid
congregation between groups of patrons.

Facilities with interior guided tours: promote and enforce social
distancing and masking when patrons and staff are in close proximity or
passing by one another; ensure patrons do not touch exhibits; develop one-
way traffic touring routes/patterns, to the extent practicable;
demarcate social distancing signage to avoid congregation between
groups of patrons; and ensure staff guides strictly follow social distancing
protocols and wear face masks at all times, unless they are more than six

feet away from anyone else or doing so would put their health or
safety at risk.

Cleaning and Disinfecting Requirements 

Facilities and businesses should develop and implement a plan and procedures to ensure
the facility, including offices and workstations, are properly cleaned and ventilated
routinely.

Facilities and businesses should encourage employees and patrons or customers to
frequently wash their hands or use hand sanitizer, which should be provided by the
employer.



Facilities and businesses must ensure cleaning and sanitation of frequently touched
surfaces (e.g., door knobs or handles and counter tops) with appropriate disinfectants.
Appropriate disinfectants include EPA registered household disinfectants, diluted
household bleach solution, and alcohol solutions containing at least 60% alcohol.
Facilities and businesses must establish a cleaning and disinfecting process that follows
CDC guidelines when any individual is identified, suspected, or confirmed COVID-19 case.

Facilities and businesses should ensure employees wipe their workstations/cash registers
down with disinfectant at the end of their shift or at any time they discontinue use of
their workstations/cash register for a significant period of time.

Facilities and businesses should ensure disinfecting wipes or other disinfectant are
available at shared equipment.

Facilities and businesses should ensure employees do not use cleaning procedures that
could re-aerosolize infectious particles. This includes, but is not limited to, avoiding
practices such as dry sweeping or use of high-pressure streams of air, water, or cleaning
chemicals.

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) Requirements 

Facilities and businesses must ensure appropriate face coverings and other personal
protective equipment (PPE) is used by employees whenever the employees are within six
(6) feet of anyone else, so long as such use does not jeopardize the employees’ health or
safety.  Facilities and businesses must train employees to use PPE. This training includes:
when to use PPE; what PPE is necessary; and how to properly put on, use, and remove PPE.

Facilities and businesses must require contractors and vendors to wear face coverings or
masks while at the facility.

Facilities and businesses may, if they wish, require patrons and customers to wear masks
while inside or within six (6) feet of anyone outside of their household.  Facilities and
businesses who do so should establish a policy as to whether to serve customers who do
not adhere to the business’s policy on requiring masks. Facilities and businesses may
choose not to serve those customers who refuse to wear a mask in order to protect their
employees and other customers.

Facilities and business must train employees to properly dispose of or disinfect PPE,
inspect PPE for damage, maintain PPE, and the limitations of PPE.

Facilities and businesses must ensure employees use gloves, along with any PPE normally
used for routine job tasks, when cleaning equipment, workspaces, and high-touch areas
of the business.



Facilities and businesses must ensure gloves are available to employees engaging in high-
touch activity to the greatest extent practicable provided that they do not create
additional hazards while being worn.

Facilities and businesses must ensure employees wear gloves while handling products
during shipping and receiving.

Training and Safety Requirements 

Facilities and businesses must place conspicuous signage at entrances and throughout the 
facility alerting staff and patrons or customers to the required occupancy limits, six feet
of physical distance, and policy on face coverings.  Signage should inform employees and
patrons or customers about good hygiene and new practices.

Facilities and businesses should, to the greatest extent practicable, implement hours
where service can be safely provided to constituents at higher risk for severe illness per
CDC guidelines. These guidelines are available at:
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/faq.html#Higher-Risk

Facilities and businesses should ensure employees are informed that they may identify
and communicate potential improvements and/or concerns in order to reduce potential
risk of exposure at the workplace. All education and training must be communicated in
the language best understood by the individual receiving the education and training.
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